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1. Name of Property
historic name Antioch Scheol. v .
other names/site number District #20 School; (NeHBS # ADQO-140)

2. Location ; -
street & number  NA s ‘ " In4not for publication

city, town  Pauline ‘ |xc ] vicinity
state Nebraska code NE county Adams - code 001 zip code 8948

3. Classification

Ownersn o of Prnpnny Calegory of Prcperty o " ' _ Number of Resources within Property
[ jorivate (X1 building(s) R Contributing Noncontnbuung
E{]publu, local [ igistrict S 4 buildings
[ public-State [ site v P ' - " sites
{1 public-Federat l::] structure o 2 : structures
[} object S objects
4 : 6 Total
Hame of related muitiple progerty listing: Lo T Number of contributing resources previously
NA S listed in the National Register __ 0

4. State/Faderal Agency Certification

A3 1he desxg'latr_ei authority under the Natiorial Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
X} nomination L _'request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
Nationai S2gister of Historic/ Piaces and meets the procedural’ and profeselonal requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
In himaon, /t 2 fer‘ Vi X meets [ ldoes not meet the Natlonal Reglster criteria. E}See contnuatlon sre? é,{r
// //!/L/ f '/ //L/}/)/L/_ ’Z[Lxrl /7

Stcmg.rp of certifying oﬁ’cﬁf e Date

fﬂ)n'er* tor, Hebraska State Historical Society o

tafe or Faderal agency and bureay '

in my opinion, the property [_Imeets L_ldoes not meet :he‘Né,tlidr'a;{If‘ Register criteria. [Isee zontinuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or cthar official ,A Date

_State or Federal agency and bureau

9. National Park Service Certification
hereby, cariify that this property is:
L7/

ientered in the National Register. 2 2 ’ " , . M
[ 1see continuaticn sheet. %/ 4 (M-p( Z W
Ddetermined eligitle for the National / 4
. -
Register. f_)See continuation sheet.

Ddetermined not eligibie for the
National Register.

[Iremoved from the National Register.
[other, (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Education/school.

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)

Govprnmpnr/fnwnqhip‘hq11

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

Other:. Vernacular hall type

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

- foundation _Brick .

walls _Rriclk ~

roof Wood/shingle

other

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

The Antioch School is a one-room red brlck rural scn,ool.lou.:e, constructed in
1902 and promlnently located on an Adams county hillside in south-central area.
of Nebraska. In addition 0 the ~)c‘*woo.tho\ls(:, the nomination includes severzl
related resources cn the schooihouse cv’ounas which also exhibit hich histcric
integrity and enhance the underst 'mmg ‘Bf the building in its setting. The
nomination consists of the following: four (4) contributing buildings--the
schoolhouse, two (2) frame privies, located on the ncrth a south sides cf the
school, and one (1) storm cellar, dlrectlv wast of school's main entrance.

Contributing structures include the foll
see-saw/swing combination unit, and one (

wing playground equipment: one (.L
) merry-go-round.

The one room red brick Antioch bchool 1s loca\_ecz five miies scutheast cf
hras

Pauline (unmcoxpora ted), Adams County

‘in the south central Ne
1 t

ska plains

area; the Nebraska/Kansas border is approx__mately 30 miles the south. The
one story vernacular schoolhcuse, constructed in 1902, ha u.ppea roof with
wooden shingles. The central doorway is loceted in a brick vestibule which

has a tower topped with a distinctive pyramidal rcof. Storage sheds are
symmetrically located on each side of the vestibule and are later additions
(1930's) . Three windows, evenly cpaced ten feet apart, are located on both
the north and south walls. A brick chimney is located on the north side of
the building. The main classroom area measures 22 feet in width and 33 1/2
feet in length. Original beaded wainscotting is intact on all interior walls.

[X see continuation sheet
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Although the building is categorized as "other" for style, a schoolhouse
architecture typology was developed by Andrew Gulliford in America's Country
Schools (1984) . Gulliford identified several general categories of schoolhouse
architecture: folk vernacular, mass vernacular, and architect designed includ-
ing those from available published plans and more rarely, designs by commis-—
sioned architects. The present nomination represents a modification of
Gulliford's typology to provide a more accurate evaluation of schoolhouse
architecture that includes consideration of both the interior and exterior.
The divergence from Gulliford's typology then, does not place classification
priority on exterior appearances. According to Gulliford, "folk vernacular"
includes log or sod structures, while "mass vernacular" was employed to de-
scribe the prevalent one room, frame rectangular rural schoolhouse: Although
schoolhouse exteriors reveal an obvious difference between, for example, sod
and frame, such structures--particularly one room rural schools--often share
the same form. Characterized by a single room, with teacher's desk at one
end, windows on both sides of the building and a central doorway, these
schools, whether sod, log, or frame are more accurately categorized as the
"Vernacular Hall type" (Murphy, 1988).

Gulliford's schoolhouse classification also distinguished between architect
designed, or designs inspired by available schoolhouse plans. A second type
of schoolhouse, which utilizes such interior features as ventilation ducts for
air circulation, and modern heating and lighting, will be categorized as a
"Modern School facility." The modified classification of schoolhouse archi-
tecture into "vernacular hall type" and "modern school facility" permits the
evaluation and analysis of one room rural schools regardless of exterior
building materials. The Antioch school, for example, which replaced earlier
structures of sod and frame, gives the external appearance of a modern school,
influenced by available turn of the century schoolhouse plans. The interior,
however, reveals that the building is essentially identical to its predeces-
sors with one central room, and no "modern" ventilation, heating, or lighting
systems.

When the Antioch School was under construction in 1902, the Department of
Public Instruction published a report entitled School Buildings and Grounds in
Nebraska. Written by State Superintendent William Fowler, the book described
existing schoolhouses throughout the state and provided plans and recommenda-
tions for modern school buildings and grounds. As reported by Fowler, there
were 6,773 schoolhouses (both urban and rural) throughout the state in 1902.
The majority of these buildings were constructed of wood-- 5,831 --while 464
were built of sod, and 320 were brick. The book provided recommendations and
plans for all aspects of schoolhouses: building form, ventilation, interior
arrangement, and the organization of exterior space such as appropriate loca-
tions for trees and shrubs, outhouses, and playground equipment.
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One of the most typical schoolhouse forms, according to Fowler, was the two-
by-three plan, characterized by "width two-thirds of the length, a single room
without entry or vestibule, two or three widely separated windows in each
side, and a door in the center or one end" (p. 11). The main classroom area
of the Antioch school measures 22 feet in width and 33 1/2 feet in length,
almost perfectly conforming to the 2-by-3 plan. The door is centrally placed
and there are three windows spaced ten feet apart on both the north and south
walls. The Antioch School also has a vestibule topped by a tower with a
distinctive pyramidal roof. Externally, the school exhibits the appearance of
a "modern school facility." The interior, however, reveals that the heating,
lighting, and ventilation systems are characteristic of the older, vernacular
hall type. Although the school's construction of red brick may represent
"modernization" in comparison with a sod or frame structure, the school's form
and mechanical systems remain the same as earlier schools.

The Antioch schoolhouse grounds, through later modifications, are more charac-
teristic of "modern school facility" design standards. Two frame privies are
located slightly west of the school, one to the far north and the other to the
far south as proscribed by School Laws of Nebraska for 1901 (Fowler, p. 54).

A storm cellar is also located on the schoolgrounds, directly west of the main
entrance. Great Plains states are known for their violent storms, especially
tornadoes, and storm cellars were common features not only for schoolgrounds,
but for farmsteads as well. Immediately south of the schoolhouse are two
pieces of playground equipment. While the swing-slide see saw unit and merry-
—-go-round probably date to a later time than the 1902 construction of the
schoolhouse, they are of a historic nature and contribute to the overall
integrity of the property. The Antioch school was abandoned for several years
after the last classes were held in 1964-1965. Since the 1970's, however, the
Little Blue Township has used the school as a township hall.
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8. Statement of Significance a4

Certifying official has considered the significance of this propenrty in relation to other properties:

[ nationally [ statewide locally

Applicable National Register Criteria [ {A [ 18 [Xc []D

Criteria Consider‘ations (Exceptions) DA [:}B DC L—_] D D E [___:] F DG

Areas of Signi.ﬁcance {enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance . Significant Dates
1902-c, 1935 Lag2
Architecture c.1935

Cuitural Affiliation

NA

Significant Person Architect/Builder

NA

Jackson, George (bnlldeYJA

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

The Antioch School is significant under Criterion C as a well-—-
preserved example of ‘the one room rural schoolhouse prope

2T Ty
type in Nebraska.  Th2 building’s hillside setting, playground

2guipment, privies, and storm cellar cantribute t3 the overall”

integrity of the huilding in 1ts setting. Under Critericn C, the
Antioch School signifies the typical stylistic develapment cf
many rural Nebraska schools. In Adams county, and other areas of
the z=tate and the Great FPlains, schocglhouses were initially sod
structures, replaced with frame gable roef buildings, which in -
turn. were repliaced with bulildings influanced by availabls schscl-
house plans. Externally, the red-brick Anticch School, con-—-
structed in 1202, has tne sppesarance of a modern schgol that
utilized turn of the century ventilation, heating,; and lighting
systems. Internally, however, the buillding represents a one room
vernacular hall type schooclhouse distinguished from its sod and
frame preczdassors by its red brick construction material. In

this senses the building is transitional, between . the earlier

vernagcular ferm and the new modern types. The scheoolgrounrds

. hewever, TulfTill the design standards of a modern school tacility
‘with properiy locatea Trame privies, storm cellar and playground
equipment. The period of significance is derived from the ori- .

ginal canstruction date of the school (1902) ‘through.c. 1935, .the
construction date inclusive of all contributing buildings and

~structures;

Ru:az schcols: as Andrew Gulliford hae stated in his book,
America’s Country Scheols (1984) were the norm s o
throughout the United States until World War II (p. 1135 . -
According to Gulliford’s research,; in 1984 approximately

835 cne-teacher,; rural schools were still in use throughout.
the United States; of that number, 3&0 were in Nebraska

(p. 113>. A gradual decline in the nation’s rural population
and the consclidation of school districts has resulted in

the abandonment and laoss of many of these buildingss

See continuation sheet
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Dpreliminary cetermination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) - _ Primary location of additional data:
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10. Geographical Data
Acreage of preperty __2_acres

UTM References
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" Zone  Easting Northing B Zone Eastmg Northing ,
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;':]__See continpa_tion sheet

Verbal Bounaary Description

The 2 acre parcel of land is desgrlbud as the ﬂx*reﬂe ngrthwest corner of the norrhweat
quarter of Section 25, Township 5 North, Range 9 West, Adams Ccunty, Nebraska. The
parcel of land is rectangular, measuring 262 feet east-west, and 330 feet north-south,
Wltﬂ the northwest corner of Lh" sef*tlon as its northwest. cornar.

[ 38ee continuation sheet

Boundary Jusiification

The boundary encompasses all land historically associated with' the property.
3 ¥y p ) ! _

[ Isee c‘ontinu‘ation sheet

1i. Form Prapared By
namefiitle __Carol Ahlgren, Archltectural Flotorlaq

organization _Nebraska State Historical Society date April 13, 1983
street & number _1500 "R" Street ‘ telephone _(402) 471-4773

city or town __TLincoln state Nebraska zip code 68501
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yet remaining schoolhouses continue to be distinct and identifiable cultural
features on the rural landscape. Although Nebraska may have a high proportion
of rural schools still in use, abandoned schoolhouses are a recognizable but
finite feature on the rural landscape.

Abandoned schoolhouses, as Gulliford notes, have always been mobile, especial-
ly the one room frame with gable roof variety. Abandoned schoolhouses have
been moved for reuse as farm buildings, remodelled into residences, or re-
stored for interpretive museums. Sometimes the schoolhouse continues to serve
a community purpose such as Antioch's use as a township hall since the 1970's.

Adams County School District 20 was formed on September 23, 1872 with the
first district meeting held on May 8, 1873. The district was located in the
extreme southeast corner of Little Blue Township and included nine sections
(22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 34, 35, and 36). The first classes were held in 1876
in a sod structure. In 1882, the school district purchased two acres of land
in the northwest corner of Section 25 and replaced the sod building with a
one-room frame gable roof schoolhouse, which was used until 1902 when the
brick schoolhouse was constructed on the site. Built by local carpenters and
brick mason George Jackson, the one room red brick school features a hipped
roof, vestibule and tower with a distinctive pyramidal roof (Creigh, 1972, p.
521).

Four rural Nebraska schoolhouses have been listed on the National Register of
Historic Places. Two of the nominated schoolhouses are frame, one is brick
and one is stone. All have the characteristic rural schoolhouse rectangular
gable roof form with gable end entrances. The Camp Creek School (OT00-37)
located in southeastern Nebraska, is a one-story rectangular brick building c.
1870 with a frame vestibule and belfry. The District 10 Schoolhouse (JF00-36)
in rural Jefferson county on the Nebraska/Kansas border, is a one-room frame
rectangular building that has been used as a museum since 1966. The Freeman
Homestead and School (GA00-4) is also a frame rectangular one-room school,
part of the complex of buildings and structures that comprise the Homestead
National Monument. The J.M. Daniel School in Hayes county, c. 1886, is a
one-room stone, rectangular building. In the 1950's the building's interior
was remodelled for use as a residence; it is now used for storage. The Antioch
School represents a different schoolhouse type with its 2 by 3 form, hipped
roof and vestibule tower.

Within the Adams county area of south central Nebraska, the on-going Nebraska
Historic Buildings Survey (NeHBS) has not been completed for counties immedi-
ately west and east (Kearney, Phelps, and Clay counties). Buffalo county,
located northwest of Adams county, was surveyed in 1975-1976. At that time,
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six extant rural schools were identified. The material and style of these
schools ranged from one room gable roofed frame buildings, to brick two story
structures. In Fillmore county, east of Adams county, a one-roam brick
schoolhouse with a striking external similarity to the Antioch school was
featured in previously cited 1902 report. The school was described as a "model
rural school", meeting the latest ventilation, heating, and lighting standards
(Fowler, 1902, pp. 204, 207). The building, however, has either been destroyed
or moved from its original location. The Antioch school, while displaying the
external appearance of a turn-of-the-century model rural school, utilized the
ventilation, heating and lighting of a frame or sod schoolhouse.

At the turn of the century when the Antioch School was built, Adams county had
a total of 89 schoolhouses (Fowler, p. 271). Although the number of schools
included both urban and rural schools, the 1975-1976 NEHBS survey identified
only three extant Adams county rural schoolhouses. One of the schools, Rising
Star, (AD00-222) was substantially altered in 1961 to accommodate current
needs. The other rural schoolhouse, Shiloh (AD00-14) was a one-rocm frame
gable roof building. After its last use as a school in 1948, the building
served the township as a polling place until the mid 1970's. Abandoned in
1977, the building has deteriorated and may no longer be extant.

According to Guilliford's schoolhouse architectural classification, the
Antioch school suggests the influence of available schoolhouse plans readily
available by mid-19th century, but utilized later in western states. The
Nebraska Department of Public Instruction report of 1902 provided such plans,
and lighting, ventilation, and landscaping recommendations in an effort to
promote appropriate schoolhouse design. The Antioch School in its setting with
grounds, playground equipment, privies, and storm cellar illustrates the
influence of such modernization efforts. The building's modernization howev-
er, is limited to its construction of brick and the placement of exterior
features such as the frame privies. In its prominent hillside setting, sur-
rounded by frame privies, storm cellar and playground equipment, the Antioch
school is an excellent example of one room rural schoolhouse in its original
setting.
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